IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT JAMES BRIM,	:
Petitioner,	:
vs.	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Respondent.	:

Case No. 85,596

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 12 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

-Chief Deputy Clerk

By

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JENNIFER Y. FOGLE Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 628204

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief on the merits seeks discretionary review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal rendered on April 12, 1995. The decision of the lower court certified direct conflict with <u>Vargas v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), <u>review granted</u>, <u>State v. Vargas</u>, No. 83,935 (oral argument scheduled for August 31, 1995).

Pursuant to Article V, Section (3)(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)-(A)(vi), notice to invoke jurisdiction of this Court was filed on April 18, 1995. The Court postponed a decision on jurisdiction and ordered briefing of the case.

The decision in <u>Brim v. State</u>, ______ So. 2d ____, 20 Fla. Law Weekly D932 (Fla. 2d DCA April 12, 1995), is attached as Appendix A. In DCA case no. 93-0863, Mr. Brim went to trial. The DNA evidence used against him, was challenged throughout as inadmissible. In DCA case no. 93-0860, Mr. Brim entered a plea of no contest, specifically reserving his motion to exclude DNA test results and expert testimony of the estimated frequencies of his DNA profile in the population.¹ Record references are to the respective cases, with pleadings and documents preceded by the letter "R" and transcripts preceded by the letter "T." However, the expert testimony on DNA evidence will be referenced by the

¹ In DCA case no. 93-0864, Mr. Brim entered an open plea of no contest to charges of burglary with an assault and misdemeanor battery. No issues were reserved and no. 93-0864 was reviewed below under <u>Anders v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

letters "ET." The transcript of the expert testimony appears in the record in case no. 93-0863, and this transcript was specifically adopted for record purposes in case no. 93-0860.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In case number 93-0863, Mr. Brim was convicted by a jury of burglary of a dwelling with assault or battery, robbery, and two counts of sexual battery. (R223-224) The trial court denied a defense motion to exclude DNA evidence. (R21, R30-184, T131, 365-66, 427, T746-812, T767, T890) In case number 93-0860, Mr. Brim entered a no contest plea to armed burglary and sexual battery, reserving as dispositive the trial court's denial of his motion to exclude DNA evidence. (R13-15, R28-29, T111-113, T143-153)

On the issue of admissibility of the DNA evidence, defense counsel produced scientific literature and judicial authority which raised serious population genetics issues and showed that the FBI and FDLE methods of calculating statistical probabilities was a subject of great disagreement within the scientific community. (#93-0863 - R30-106, 183-184, T746-812; #93-0860 - R28-185, T3-68) The state concurred that a dispute existed within the scientific community concerning the general acceptance of the data bases and population frequency statistics but urged that the evidence was admissible as relevant under any standard. (#93-0863 - T802-803; #93-0860 - T58-59)

The trial court ruled that the relevancy standard was the applicable standard based on <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1992), and found:

. . . they didn't really apply the <u>Frye</u> standard, and I'm going to make that finding for the record and for the appellate court purposes, that I don't believe that the <u>Frye</u> standard is the applicable standard in this case. (#93-0863 - T890; #93-0860 - T146)

... I'm finding that there is a general acceptance of this procedure within the scientific community for various purposes, and that it is reliable. (#93-0863 -T891; #93-0860 - T147)

I am not inclined to hear anything about the data base and the populations that were used, although I read all of that material. That's something you might argue to the jury, but I'm not going to be rehashing that or anything, eliminating the evidence on this basis. (#93-0863 - T892; #93-0860 - T148)

A summary of the expert DNA testimony is as follows: David Baer of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) testified as an expert for the state in DNA testing. (ET329-335) His laboratory received the evidence for DNA testing. (ET336-337, ET360-365) After visual tests proved conclusive, (ET367-373) Baer concluded that the DNA pattern would be present in one out of 1.4 billion white people and one out of 3.5 million black people based on population data bases. (ET374-380)

On cross-examination Baer acknowledged that the FDLE lab was not licensed or accredited to do DNA testing and was not governed by anyone in terms of quality standards. (ET391) A recent National Research Council study, "DNA Technology in Forensic Science," concluded that an important need exists for standardization of lab procedures and for proficiency testing and accreditation before DNA profiling should be used in a forensic or courtroom setting. (ET394) Baer recognized he had no expertise in statistics or population genetics, and his background in molecular biology was limited. (ET396-397) A great deal of controversy exists in the scientific and forensic community concerning the determination of population frequencies, and methods used by the FBI and FDLE in

4

* * *

.

compiling its data bases have been criticized as insufficient, including in regard to the black population. (ET397-401) Although the forensic community generally accepted the use of the population frequencies, the scientific community did not. (ET401-411) The Orlando FDLE laboratory only began doing DNA testing in August 1991. (ET417)

Dr. Kevin McElfresh was recognized as an expert in molecular biology and population genetics. (ET428-433) He reviewed the DNA results in Mr. Brim's case, found no indication of error, and agreed with the matches found by FDLE. (ET440-448) He did not have the FDLE data bases, but based on his general knowledge he did a quick qualitative check of the FDLE results and spot-checked some calculations. His calculations agreed with Dr. Baer's. (ET455-456, 458) The match did not mean Mr. Brim was the perpetrator of the crime, but did mean he could not be eliminated as the perpetrator and he was identified as the owner of the sample based on population frequencies. (ET501)

Dr. Laurence Mueller qualified as an expert for the defense in the field of population genetics. (ET517-521) When a DNA profile matches, it means only that the individual has not been excluded. Some weight must then be attached to the match. (ET523) In population genetics, the product rule requires calculations based on two principles -- Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and linkage equilibrium. (ET533) Each assumption must be verified independently. (ET534-535) The two population data bases used by the FDLE in Mr. Brim's case involved samples of Caucasians in Florida and

samples of blacks from a geographic range including Texas, Florida, and California. (ET535) There is growing concern in the scientific community about errors generated by applying the product rule to very broad groups such as Caucasians or Hispanics; rather, data should be collected from a large number of subgroups of the various populations for comparison. (ET547-549, 557) The National Academy of Sciences also proposed that the "ceiling principle" should be used in forensic cases instead of the product rule. (ET558) Under this principle, each autorad band would be evaluated using fifteen or twenty data bases. Each data base would result in a different number and the largest frequency base value would be applied to each band. (ET559) A single number would then be calculated to determine the probability of finding an individual with the entire genetic ensemble. (ET559-560) The Academy also recommended blind proficiency testing for forensic laboratories so the results could be reported to juries in a quantitative manner. (ET560-562)

Errors in forensic DNA profiling had been made by various organizations. (ET566-573) Additionally, when bands are matched there are intervals of variation of 3.5 percent. The number of other people in the general population with bands which could be declared matches within the 3.5 percent variation to the suspect band must be determined. (ET587-589) Another problem in forensic DNA typing is that bands from duplicate samples, which should be identical in size, actually are not when run on different autorads or gels. (ET591-592)

Dr. Mueller applied the Academy's counting method and ceiling principle to Mr. Brim's case. Using the ceiling principle he reached an estimated frequency of one in approximately 9,000 in the black data base. The counting method resulted in a frequency of one in 960 or less. (ET594-601) Dr. Mueller's review assumed the match was valid but that the evidence should be weighed and interpreted in a much different way than was done. (ET614-615, 626)

In rebuttal, Dr. McElfresh explained the discrepancy between Dr. Baer's and Mueller's probability results as being due to a larger aggregate of data used by Dr. Mueller which would always result in bringing the probability numbers down. (ET632-643)

Other than the DNA evidence, in the trial case, #93-0863, the testimony relating to identification was as follows:

On September 14, 1990, the victim arrived home at approximately 10:45, watched the 11:00 news, and decided to go to bed. (T152) She took a sleeping pill, which she often needed because of a disability to her back caused by a 1971 automobile accident. (T153) Before retiring she opened a window behind her bed to get some fresh air. (T154) She turned off all the lights, and only a candle illuminated her apartment. (T154-155)

The victim thought she heard a noise from upstairs, but then saw a man coming through her window. He grabbed her by the throat and said, "Don't scream. I won't hurt you." (T155-156) She saw and remembered his eyes and his nose. The eyes were almond-shaped; the nose, medium-sized. (T157) The man appeared to be in his late twenties or early thirties, and had long curly hair. (T157)

He wore a tank top and shorts that were a greenish color. (T158) The man said his name was Ernie. (T160) The assailant did not wear gloves. (T189) He was calm and polite and spoke calmly. The victim talked to him to play along in hopes that nothing worse would happen. (T191-192)

She later worked with the police to put together a composite, but the composite did not totally depict the assailant beyond the nose and the eyes. The composite showed a man with a very large, wide nose. (T179, 194-196) Also, she was later shown two photopacks. From the second one she picked two photographs, but did not know if they were the right ones. (T180-182) She picked one where the eyes were similar to those of the assailant, but the detective told her she picked the wrong person. (T182-183) Later he told her she picked the right person. (T183, 185-188) She did not divulge the information to defense counsel earlier because she was not asked at deposition to identify specifically one of the two photographs and she was not asked specifically whether the detective had been in contact with her. (T186-188, 198)

Tampa Police Officer Roosevelt Ratliff, III, received a description of the assailant from the victim. He was described as a black male between ages 20 and 30, about 6-feet one-inch tall, and weighing about 185 pounds. He was dark complexioned with black, curly shoulder-length hair and a mustache, and dressed in dark green shorts and a dark tank top. (T204) During the victim's testimony she denied giving this description to officer Ratliff. (T189-190)

Kevin Williams, a detective with the Tampa Police Department, met with the victim on September 17, 1990 to develop a composite. (T246-247) From his observations, the victim seemed scared and chilled when she saw the final composite. (T250) She gave detective Williams a description of the assailant as five-feet seven to eight-inches tall, between 25 and 30 years old, and with a muscular build. (T250) He did not recall the victim telling him she did not have an opportunity to see anything below the nose of the assailant. (T251)

Tampa detective Jerry Herren interviewed the victim on the afternoon of September 15, 1990. (T256-259) At that time she described her assailant as five-feet seven to nine-inches tall, weighing about 150 pounds, muscular, and with curly hair and a thin mustache. (T256, 262, 285-286) On September 27, 1990, detective Herren showed the victim the first photopack at the Tampa Police Department. (T263) She stated without hesitation that none of the photos depicted the assailant. (T266) On October 9, 1991, Herren presented another photopack to the victim at her residence. She vacillated between two photographs and could not make an identification. (T268-269)

During detective Herren's investigation of the case he received an anonymous call that suggested a person by the name of Ernest, who worked at a restaurant, might be the perpetrator. (T287) The caller said he was the perpetrator. Ernest David Wilson was actually located and met the description given by the victim to Herren. Detective Herren never showed a photopack or any

photograph of Ernest Wilson to the victim. (T288-289) Herren did not recall the name of Keith Malfus, who also fit the description given by the victim, being provided to him by another investigator. (T290-294) Detective Herren did not do a supplement to the second photopack based on the information of the two possible perpetrators. (T303) The victim was unable to make a positive identification from the second photopack, contrary to her testimony in court. (T304-305) Detective Herren never told the victim she picked the wrong photo or later told her she picked the right photo. (T305)

A serology test indicated the perpetrator was a blood-type O secretor. (T314-317) Mr. Brim was determined to be a blood-type O secretor, as is 36-percent of the population. (T314-318)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The test of Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), must be the applicable standard in Florida in cases where the admissibility of DNA evidence is challenged. DNA evidence involves two different sciences. One is molecular biology, or the way in which DNA is tested and matched. The other is the science of population genetics/statistical frequencies that give meaning to The statistical prong of DNA typing is the pivotal the match. element of DNA analysis. It is presented to the jury as scientific evidence. The holding of the Second District Court of Appeal, that this scientific evidence need not meet Frye, and that it should be admissible under a lesser relevancy standard, should be reversed. The Frye test, long established in Florida, is the proper standard to apply to the statistical frequency prong of DNA scientific evidence.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE</u>

WHETHER EXPERT TESTIMONY ON DNA TEST PROCEDURES AND STATISTICAL FREQUENCY POPULATION STATISTICS MUST MEET THE TEST OF <u>FRYE V. UNITED STATES</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. CIR. 1923), TO BE ADMISSIBLE AS SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE?

In <u>Brim v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D932, 934 (Fla. 2d DCA April 12, 1995), the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that DNA population statistics need not meet the stringent test of <u>Frye</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).² The <u>Brim</u> court recognized that its conclusion conflicts with the conclusion of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Vargas v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), <u>review granted</u>, <u>State v. Vargas</u>, No. 83,935 (oral argument scheduled for August 31, 1995). Accordingly, the <u>Brim</u> court certified conflict with <u>Vargas</u>. <u>Brim</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D934.

At issue in <u>Vargas</u> and <u>Brim</u> is the question of admissibility of DNA profile evidence involving data bases compiled by the FBI and used by the FDLE. The <u>Vargas</u> court reviewed cases involving the FBI data bases analyzed under the <u>Frye</u> standard. <u>Vargas</u>, 640 So. 2d 1148-50. Relying on those cases and this Court's holding in <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993), the <u>Vargas</u> court

² Under <u>Frye</u>, in order to introduce expert testimony deduced from a scientific principle or discovery, the principle or discovery "must be sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs." <u>Frye</u>, 293 F. at 1014.

held that the <u>Frye</u> test is applicable in Florida to DNA evidence concerning FBI/FDLE data bases and population statistics. Thus, DNA population frequency evidence is inadmissible when it is shown that the methods by which FDLE arrived at population frequencies, using FBI data bases, is not generally accepted in the scientific community. <u>Vargas</u>, 640 So. 2d at 1150-52. The court specifically rejected a less stringent relevance/reliability standard of admissibility. Vargas, 640 So. 2d at 1150.

,

In <u>Brim</u>, however, the court said: "We do not believe that the Florida Supreme Court intended, as the <u>Vargas</u> court announced, that <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993), addressed the precise issue before us." <u>Brim</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D934. The court then went on to discuss this Court's holding in <u>Ramirez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 651 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1995). <u>Ramirez</u> reaffirmed the <u>Frye</u> standard in Florida. It also set forth a four step process for trial judges to use in applying <u>Frye</u>.³ Under its view of <u>Ramirez</u>, the Second District took the position that if an underlying scientific procedure (DNA testing) is generally accepted, then

Ramirez, 651 So. 2d at 1167 (citations omitted.)

³ First, the trial judge must determine whether such testimony will assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in issue.

Second, the trial judge must decide whether the expert testimony is based on a scientific principle or discovery that is"sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs."

The third step in the process is for the trial judge to determine whether a particular witness is qualified as an expert to present opinion testimony on the subject in issue.

Fourth, the judge may then allow the expert to render an opinion on the subject of his or her expertise, and it is then up to the jury to determine the credibility of the expert's opinion which it may either accept or reject.

evidence of statistical analysis (DNA data bases and population frequencies) to show the force of the underlying principle does not have to pass <u>Frye</u> to be admissible. <u>Brim</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D934. The court noted concern:

3 × #

Further language in the <u>Ramirez</u> opinion causes us concern, however. That language is as follows:

In utilizing the <u>Frye</u> test, the burden is on the proponent of the evidence to prove the general acceptance of <u>both</u> the underlying scientific principle and the testing procedures used to apply that principle to the facts of the case at hand. The trial judge has the sole responsibility to determine this question. The general acceptance under the <u>Frye</u> test must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.

[651 So. 2d at 1168] (emphasis supplied.) We construe this language not to apply to the issue before us for to do so, we conclude, would conflict with the holding in <u>Bundy I</u>, on which we have relied.

Brim, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D934.⁴ The Second District also relied on <u>Andrews v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 542 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1989), in agreeing that the "'relevancy approach' is the preferred approach when faced with the admissibility of the comparison techniques or deductions based upon

⁴<u>Bundy v. State</u>, 455 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 476 U.S. 1109, 106 S. Ct. 1958, 90 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1986) (<u>Bundy I</u>), was not cited by the parties. The Second District's reliance on <u>Bundy</u> <u>I</u> is misplaced since the case does not address the sciences of population genetics or statistical frequencies. Mr. Brim's case involves total reliance on DNA evidence and its meaning through statistics.

the generally accepted scientific DNA analysis." <u>Brim</u>, 20 Fla. Law Weekly at D933.⁵

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