FILED SID J. WHITE JUL 31 1995 URT CLERK. By internet Clark

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT JAMES BRIM,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC NO. 85,596

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DALE E. TARPLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0872921 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/cmf

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court is aware of the various advantages and disadvantages of the relevancy approach as compared with the <u>Frye</u> test. While the state invites the court to consider the Second District's preferred approach, it appears as if the question has become academic due to recent studies, publications, and decisional law which has refuted the feared possibility of substructure. Therefore, concerns regarding general acceptance under the <u>Frye</u> standard have been alleviated and future disputes about the possibility of the inaccuracy of statistical data due to substructuring or otherwise go only to the weight of the evidence and not the admissibility.

In any case, the approach taken by the Second District was a correct application of the <u>Frye</u> test. Under the analysis in <u>United States v. Bonds</u>, <u>infra</u>, the cases discuss general acceptance in terms of "reliability" but refer only to the reliability of the procedures and process, not the reliability of the results of the procedures. The general acceptance test is designed to uncover whether there is general agreement of scientists in the field that the scientific data is not based on a novel theory or procedure that is "mere speculation or conjecture." There may be several different theories or procedures used concerning one type of scientific evidence, all of which are generally accepted. None may have the backing of

- 1 -

the majority of scientists, yet the theory or procedure can still be generally accepted. Questions about the accuracy of results are matters of weight, not admissibility.

Finally, it is debatable whether the <u>Frye</u> general acceptance test is applicable, since the Hardy-Weinberg theory is not new or novel. In fact, probability calculations are used daily in both experimental and theoretical fields of science. Statistical evidence should be admissible where it is sufficiently based on an adequate and scientific factual basis.

ARGUMENT

THE STATE INVITES THE HONORABLE COURT TO CONSIDER THE SECOND DISTRICT'S PREFERRED RELEVANCY APPROACH TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THE STATISTICAL PROBABILITY COMPONENT OF THE DNA PROFILE ANALYSIS ALTHOUGH IT APPEARS AS IF THE QUESTION HAS BECOME LARGELY ACADEMIC IN LIGHT OF RECENT STUDIES, PUBLICATIONS, AND DECISIONAL LAW WHICH HAVE REFUTED THE SUBSTRUCTURE ARGUMENTS OF FBI/FDLE CRITICS AND FUTURE DISPUTES ABOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF INACCURATE STATISTICAL DATA DUE TO SUBSTRUC-TURING OR OTHERWISE GO ONLY TO THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT THE ADMISSIBILITY.

The instant case is before the Honorable Court because the lower court, the Second District Court of Appeal, certified conflict with the First District Court of Appeal concerning the appropriate test for the admission of FBI/FDLE statistical probability calculations. The Second District agreed with Judge Orfinger's analysis in <u>Andrews v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), <u>review denied</u>, 542 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1989) that the "relevancy approach" is the preferred approach when faced with the admissibility of comparison techniques or deductions based upon the generally accepted scientific DNA analysis. <u>Brim v.</u> State, 654 So. 2d 184, 186 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

The Second District was apparently concerned regarding the negative outcomes which resulted from rigid application of the <u>Frye</u> test in the cases cited by the First District in <u>Vargas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Although the Second District found that the two statistical probability calculations

- 3 -

below met the <u>Frye</u> test it found that "[i]t may be that a general relevancy test, one that does not limit the admissible scientific evidence to that reflected by one unanimous view, would be a more preferable, and perhaps realistic, test in such situations." <u>Brim</u>, 654 So. 2d at 187. Accordingly, the Second District certified conflict as to the application of <u>Frye</u> to the FBI/FDLE statistical probability calculation.

The state recognizes that the court is aware of the various advantages and disadvantages of the relevancy approach as compared with the <u>Frye</u> test and vice versa. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>United</u> <u>States v. Jakobetz</u>, 955 F. 2d 786 (2d Cir. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, ______U.S.___, 113 S. Ct. 104, 121 L. Ed. 2d 63 (1992); <u>United</u> <u>States v. Downing</u>, 753 F. 2d 1224 (3d Cir. 1985); <u>United States</u> <u>v. Williams</u>, 583 F. 2d 1194 (2d Cir. 1978), <u>cert. denied</u>, 439 U.S. 1117, 99 S. Ct. 1025, 59 L. Ed. 2d 77 (1979); <u>Andrews</u>, 533 So. 2d at 841. <u>See generally</u>, Gianelli, <u>The Admissibility of</u> <u>Novel Scientific Evidence: Frye v. United States A Half Century</u> <u>Later</u>, 80 <u>Colum. L. Rev.</u> 1197 (1980); McCormick, <u>Scientific</u> <u>Evidence: Defining A New Approach to Admissibility</u>, 67 <u>Iowa L.</u> <u>Rev.</u> 879, 911-12 (1982).

While the state invites the court to consider the Second District's preferred approach, it appears as if the question has become largely academic due to recent studies, publications, and decisional law which have refuted the feared possibility of

- 4 -

substructure. Therefore, any concerns regarding general acceptance under the <u>Frye</u> standard have been alleviated and future disputes about the possibility of the inaccuracy of statistical data due to substructuring or otherwise go only to the weight of the evidence and not the admissibility.

The California experience with regard to the alleged dispute over the possibility of substructuring and the soundness of the FBI/FDLE product rule is enlightening. <u>People v. Axell</u>, 235 Cal. App. 3d 836, 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d 411 (Cal. Ct. App. 1991) was decided in October of 1991. On the issue of substructuring, the <u>Axell</u> court concluded that the state's evidence overcame defense fears about the possibility of substructuring, and established that Cellmark's methodology of calculating the statistical probability of a coincidental match was generally accepted in the scientific community. Thus, "[a]ny question or criticism of the size of the database or the ratio pertains to weight of the evidence and not to its admissibility." 235 Cal. App. 3d at 868, 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d 411.

After the decision in <u>Axell</u>, the December 20, 1991 edition of the journal <u>Science</u> was published. It contained an article by a Harvard University Professor, Richard C. Lewontin, and Washington University Professor Daniel L. Hartl, which attacked the failure of DNA statistical calculation analysis to account for substructuring. Lewontin & Hartl, <u>Population Genetics in</u> <u>Forensic DNA Typing</u> (Dec. 20, 1991) <u>Science</u>, vol. 254, p. 1745.

- 5 -

In another article appearing in the same issue of <u>Science</u>, University of Texas Professor Ranajit Chakraborty, and Dr. Kenneth Kidd, defended the practice of performing statistical calculations of probability estimates without regard to substructuring. Chakraborty & Kidd, <u>The Utility of DNA Typing in</u> Forensic Work (Dec. 20, 1991) Science, vol. 254, p. 1735.

In April 1992, the National Research Council (NRC), members of which are drawn from the councils of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine, issued a report on genetic profiling. NRC, <u>DNA</u> <u>Technology in Forensic Science</u> (1992). The NRC report acknowledged that substructuring was controversial but made no attempt to resolve the controversy. Rather, the report assumed "for the sake of discussion" that substructuring existed, and suggested methods to ensure that probability estimates rendered as part of the statistical calculation step of DNA analysis would be sufficiently conservative to take it into account. <u>DNA</u> Technology, at pp. 12-15, 79-85.

The foregoing developments resulted in a shift in California's judicial acceptance of the statistical probability component of the DNA RFLP profile analysis as exemplified by the opinion in <u>People v. Barney</u>, 8 Cal. App. 4th 798, 10 Cal. Rptr. 2d 731 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992). As the Barney court concluded:

Whatever the merits of the prior decisions on the statistical calculations process---

- 6 -

including <u>Axell</u>---the debate that erupted in Science in December 1991 changes the scientific landscape considerably, and demonstrates indisputably, that there is no general acceptance of the current process...simply put, <u>Axell</u> has been eclipsed on this point by subsequent scientific developments. In reaching a conclusion different from that in <u>Axell</u>, we do not express disagreement with <u>Axell's</u> reasoning at the time, but rather have progressed to a point on a continuum of scientific debate which neither the <u>Axell</u> court nor the two trial courts in the present cases could have anticipated.

8 Cal. App. 4th at pp. 820-821, 10 Cal. Rptr. 2d 731. Thus, based upon a perceived split within the scientific community concerning the potential existence of substructuring, the <u>Barney</u> court concluded that the entire DNA profile analysis was inadmissible. 8 Cal. App. 4th 823, 10 Cal. Rptr. 2d 745.

The more recent California opinions, and publications, however, indicate that concerns about potential substructuring have been refuted. For example, in <u>People v. Soto</u>, 30 Cal. App. 4th 340, 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d 846 (Cal. Ct. App. 1994) the <u>Kelly-Frye</u> hearing was held after <u>Axell</u> had been decided, and after the Lewontin & Hartl article had been published, but before <u>Barney</u> was decided. At the <u>Kelly-Frye</u> hearing, the experts addressed the question of whether the <u>Science</u> article demonstrated the scientific community no longer generally accepted forensic DNA analysis. The prosecution experts in <u>Soto</u> each testified to the accuracy of the product rule in frequency determinations

- 7 -

involving human populations, and the validity of the work, both analytical and mathematical, performed by the OCSD [Orange County Sheriff's Department] lab. They also uniformly attacked the scientific methodology as well as the conclusions of Hartl & Lewontin. 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 852.

Moreover, prosecution expert Dr. Chakraborty (the coauthor with Dr. Kidd of the "rebuttal" article in <u>Science</u>) had developed a series of tests to review and examine the assumptions of the Lewontin & Hartl article, and had produced "'hard data' proving there was no substructuring." 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 852 n.15.

The <u>Soto</u> court affirmed the trial court's determination that forensic DNA evidence still enjoyed "general acceptance" by the relevant scientific community:

> The testimony before the court in this case clearly showed a consensus within the scientific community on the application of a probability calculation to the RFLP comparison. The only debate centered on which factor to use in that calculation. The trial court qualitatively assessed the relative merits of the respective experts based on their various credentials and research fields as well as their rationale and final opinions. It concluded the experts espousing application of the product rule reflected the "support of the clear majority of the members of the relevant scientific community[,]..."(cf. Leahy, supra, 8 Cal. 4th at p. 612, 34 Cal. Rptr. 2d 663, 882 P. 2d 321) which, in this case, are human population geneticists. Although a series of events --- The NRC report, various court opinions on the subject, the FBI report, Lander & Hartl's shift---have substantially altered the face of information on the

> > - 8 -

subject, the trial court's decision remains correct today. (emphasis in original)

35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 858. In the instant case, as in <u>Soto</u>, although the information on the subject has changed, the trial court's decision remains correct today.

The <u>Soto</u> court further noted that, since the trial, the FBI had published an exhaustive five-volume study of worldwide VNTR data that refutes the Hartl-Lewontin assumption that population subgroups affect DNA probability estimates to a defendant's disadvantage:

> The study concludes, based on empirical evidence, "(1) that there are sufficient population data available to determine whether or not forensically significant differences might occur when using different population databases [sic]; (2) that subdivision, either by ethnic group or by U.S. geographic region, within a major population group does not substantially affect forensic estimates of the likelihood of the occurrence of a DNA profile; (3) that estimates of the likelihood of occurrence of a DNA profile using major population group databases (e.g., Caucasian, Black, and Hispanic) provide a greater range of frequencies than would estimates for subgroups of a major population category; therefore, the estimate of the likelihood of occurrence of a DNA profile derived by the current practice of employing the multiplication rule and using general population databases for allele frequencies is reliable, valid, and meaningful, without forensically significant consequences; and (4) that the data do not support the need for alternate procedures, such as the ceiling principle approach (NRC Report 1992), for deriving statistical estimates of DNA profile frequencies (Budowle et al. 1993a and 1993b submitted)."

35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 856 (citing U.S. Dept. Justice, FBI Rep., <u>VNTR Population Data: A Worldwide Study</u>, Vol. IA (1993) p.2.) The new data supplied by the FBI provide further support for the use of the product rule and indicates that previous concerns regarding general acceptance were overrated.

As recognized by <u>People v. Wilds</u>, 31 Cal. App. 4th 636, 37 Cal. Rptr. 2d 351 (Cal. Ct. App. 1995), an even more recent publication, also discussed by <u>Soto</u>, further contributes to the conclusion that statistical calculation using the product rule satisfies <u>Kelly-Frye</u>. In the October 27, 1994 issue of the journal <u>Nature</u>, one of the original opponents of RFLP analysis teamed with a former adversary to proclaim that "[t]he DNA fingerprinting wars are over." Lander & Budowle, <u>DNA</u> <u>Fingerprinting Dispute Laid To Rest</u>, <u>Nature</u> (Oct. 27, 1994) vol. 371, p.735.

In the article, Lander (a prominent early critic of DNA profiling) and Budowle (one of the principle architects of the FBI's DNA program) aptly describe themselves as "represent[ing] the range of scientific debate." Lander & Budowle, <u>supra</u>, at 735. Together Lander and Budowle criticized the NRC for being overly conservative in its recommendations for dealing with the possibility of substructuring. They further suggested that the recommendations were premised on Lewontin and Hartl's "flawed analysis," and had "allowed a minor academic debate to snowball

- 10 -

to the point that it threatens to undermine the use of DNA fingerprinting." Lander & Budowle, <u>supra</u>, at p.737, note omitted. Thus, in view of the recent developments, it can safely be said that concerns regarding the accuracy of the product rule go to weight and not to admissibility. <u>Soto</u>, 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 858.

The Second District's decision that two differing but generally accepted statistical probability calculations were admissible and properly heard by the jury was eminently correct. As the <u>Soto</u> court recognized, this is "...exactly the approach the most conservative scientists advocated." 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 858. In <u>Soto</u>, the <u>Axell</u> decision had already established the evidentiary reliability for <u>Kelly</u> purposes and the defense experts' skepticism was relevant to the jury's consideration of the weight to be accorded to the scientific evidence. <u>Id</u>.

In the instant case, the <u>Jakobetz</u> and <u>Yee¹</u> cases had already established the reliability of the statistical probability calculations and, likewise, the defense expert's skepticism was relevant to the weight to be accorded to the scientific evidence.

The lower court's reliance on <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 455 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 476 U.S. 1109, 106 S. Ct. 1958, 90 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1986)(<u>Bundy</u> I) was appropriate where the court found that since the proffered evidence met the criterion of reliabil-

¹<u>United States v. Yee</u>, 134 F.R.D. 161 (N.D. Ohio 1991), <u>aff'd</u> <u>sub nom. United States v. Bonds</u>, 12 F. 3d 540 (6th Cir. 1993).

ity, the details of the comparison techniques were matters of credibility and weight of the evidence for the jury to determine. The <u>Bundy</u> court found the science of odontology similar to haircomparison evidence, which is admissible even though it does not result in identifications of absolute certainty as fingerprints do. <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert. denied</u>, 457 U.S. 1111, 102 S. Ct. 2916, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1322 (1982).

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